Sentinel Node Mapping in Vulva Cancer

Mamoru Kakuda, Eiji Kobayashi, Kiyoshi Yoshino, and Tadashi Kimura

Abstract

The treatment of early-stage vulvar cancer previously included a complete inguinofemoral lymph node dissection (IFLD). However, IFLD is associated with a substantially high probability of postoperative complications: up to two-thirds of patients who have IFLD performed experience wound infection or breakdown, formation of lymphocytes, or long-term lymphedema. For this reason, lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) for early-stage vulvar cancer have been studied. Compared to IFLD, SLNB has significantly fewer complications and is becoming a more common practice in treatment for selected patients with early-stage vulvar cancer. From our literature review, we discuss SLNB as part of a standard treatment for patients with early-stage vulvar cancer, and we provide future considerations for its use in the management of vulvar cancer.

e-mail: mamorukakuda@gmail.com;

DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-17798-4_37

Keywords

Vulvar cancer • Sentinel nodes • Inguinofemoral lymph node dissection • Early stage • Complication

Contents

1	Introduction	983
2	Patient Selection for SLNB Versus IFLD	984
3	Drainage Tracer	985
4	Ultrastaging	985
5	Recurrence Rate	986
6	Survival Rate	986
7	Complications	987
8	Quality of Life	987
9	Cost-Effectiveness of SLNB	987
10	Learning Curve for Conducting SLNB	988
11	Conclusion	988
References		988

1 Introduction

Sentinel lymph node (SLN) identification and lymphatic mapping for vulvar cancer have its origins in cancers of other sites. In 1960, Gould et al. first proposed the concept of a "sentinel node" for head and neck cancer in their description of the key node which was identified at the junction of the anterior and posterior facial vein

M. Kakuda • E. Kobayashi (🖂) • K. Yoshino • T. Kimura Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Osaka University Graduate School of Medicine, Suita, Osaka, Japan

kobachiroabiko@hotmail.com; yoshino@gyne.med. osaka-u.ac.jp; tadashi@gyne.med.osaka-u.ac.jp

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

D. Shoupe (ed.), Handbook of Gynecology,

(Gould et al. 1960). In the field of gynecologic cancers, DiSaia et al. first utilized the superficial inguinal lymph nodes as the "sentinel nodes" in the treatment of vulvar cancer to help them identify patients who would not benefit from a more morbidity-causing complete IFLD (DiSaia et al. 1979). In the 1990s, Morton et al. described what is now the new procedure lymphatic mapping in the treatment of melanoma, in which blue dye was used to identify the primary lymphatic drainage basin (Morton et al. 1992).

The premise of SLN biopsy (SNLB) is that tumor cells from the primary lesion will first migrate "downstream" in the lymphatic flow to one or a few key lymph nodes, prior to disseminating to other regional lymph nodes. These key lymph nodes can be identified by using either a vital blue dye (isosulfan blue/methylene blue), a radiocolloid, or indocyanine green (ICG). Key to the utilization of this technique is confidence that identification of the SLN accurately predicts the status of the remaining lymph nodes.

Surgery still remains the primary care for earlystage vulvar cancer, but in the past two decades, the standard treatment has made a transition from radical dissection to minimally invasive surgery. Primarily, the surgical treatment of early-stage vulvar cancer includes a complete inguinofemoral lymph node dissection (IFLD). However, IFLD is associated with a significantly high probability of postoperative complications; up to two-thirds of patients who have had extensive dissection of inguinal lymph node performed experienced wound infection or breakdown and lymphocyst formation or long-term lymphedema after surgery (Stehman et al. 1992; Gaarenstroom et al. 2003; Rouzier et al. 2003; Kirby et al. 2005). Because of this high morbidity, and since vulvar cancer is an excellent target for the SLN concept, the tumor is easy to inject with blue dye or radiocolloid. Because the lymph drainage is predictably to one or both of the groins, lymphatic mapping and SLNB for early-stage vulvar cancer have been widely studied as a possible alternative procedure to current IFLD procedures. As a result of those studies, SLNB has now become more common in the treatment for selected patients with early-stage vulvar cancer.

2 Patient Selection for SLNB Versus IFLD

As mentioned above, IFLD is associated with a high morbidity rate, including a 20–40% risk of wound complications and a 30–70% risk of lower extremity lymphedema. In addition, fewer than one-third of early-stage vulvar cancer patients have lymph node metastasis, which means that the routine application of IFLD exposes a large number of patients to potentially preventable surgical complications (Sedlis et al. 1987).

The most effective way to minimize morbidity in patients where surgical treatment of vulvar cancer is performed is to minimize damage of the lymphatic tracts by removing fewer lymph nodes. The benefits of dissecting fewer nodes, however, must outweigh the risk of failing to remove actual metastatic lymph nodes in the inguinofemoral region, as inguinal and pelvic recurrence of vulvar cancer is associated with a 27% 5-year survival rate (Maggino et al. 2000).

Two large trials have evaluated whether SLNB accurately detected positive lymph node and whether SLNB reduced morbidity as compared with IFLD in patients with early-stage vulvar cancer (Van der Zee et al. 2008; Levenback et al. 2012). The GROINSS-V study was an observational study of 276 patients with squamous cell cancer of the vulva, with T1/T2 (<4 cm) and no lymph node metastases detected on SLNB (Van der Zee et al. 2008). Study investigators found that patients with multifocal disease had a higher recurrence rate after SLNB (11.8%) compared with patients with unifocal disease (2.3%). The false-negative rate for SLNB of multifocal disease was 5.9% (4.6% for patients with unifocal disease), and the false-negative predictive value was 2.9%. This study suggested it was less common for surgical morbidity in patients who underwent only removal of SLN, compared with patients with a metastatic sentinel node who subsequently underwent IFLD. Wound breakdown, cellulitis, lymphedema, and recurrent erysipelas are also significantly less after SLNB compared to IFLD. A follow-up survey sent to patients after the GROINSS-V study found that no difference in overall quality of life was observed between the two procedure groups and that the major difference found was the increase in complaints of lower extremity lymphedema after IFLD (Oonk et al. 2009).

The Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG) Protocol 173 was a multi-institutional observational study of 452 patients with early-stage vulvar cancer (Levenback et al. 2012). All patients underwent intraoperative lymphatic mapping and SLNB, followed by IFLD. The overall falsenegative rate for SLNB was 3.7%. However, the false-negative rate for SLNB was much lower in women with tumors smaller than 4 cm than in women with tumors 4-6 cm (2.0% vs. 7.4%). In addition, the location of the tumor was another important factor found in a systematic review (Hassanzade et al. 2013). For lesions which were within 2 cm of the midline, the detection rate was considerably lower compared with more lateral lesions greater than 2 cm from the midline plane (73% vs. 95%).

From this evidence, we suggest that patients with early-stage vulvar cancer, with primary tumors that are unifocal and smaller than 4 cm and where the lesion(s) are located more than 2 cm from the midline, can be assured preoperatively that, if the SLNB is negative, the risk of a recurrence of the inguinal lesion is less than 3%. Given the cumulative results from these studies, we feel confident that the SLNB can be offered to patients carefully selected by skilled gynecologic oncologists. In clinical practices where vulvar cancer is rarely encountered and experience of the surgeon with the disease is negligible, referral to a high-volume center and a more experienced surgeon is recommended.

3 Drainage Tracer

In the GOG Protocol 173, the false-negative rates for SLNs identified by dye and radiocolloid, dye alone, and radiocolloid alone were 1.6%, 2.0%, and 7.8%, respectively (Levenback et al. 2012). A meta-analysis of 29 studies of SLNB for vulvar cancer found that the pooled SLN detection rates were 94.0% for 99mTc, 68.7% for blue dye alone, and 97.7% for combined 99mTc and blue dye (Meads et al. 2014). These results demonstrate evidence that a combination of radiocolloid and blue dye is the most sensitive for detecting SLN. Because of the direct visualization of the lymphatic mapping for vulvar cancer provided by using blue dye, using the combination of radiocolloid and blue dye may also improve the learning curve for the SLNB procedure.

In recent years, near-infrared (NIR) fluorescence imaging has been introduced in lymphatic mapping and SLNB for vulvar cancer. The NIR technique has the potential for far more accurate and real-time intraoperative SLN mapping. A meta-analysis of SLNB with NIR fluorescence imaging in vulvar cancer has reported a good outcome, with a high detection rate of inguinal lymph node metastasis (91.4%) and a considerably higher negative predictive value (100%) (Handgraaf et al. 2014). However, the penetration capacity of NIR fluorescence is limited to approximately 8 mm. The use of radiotracers therefore remains indispensable, since it allows preoperative scintigraphy and intraoperative identification of deep SLN in the groin. Further studies will therefore be needed to compare the effectiveness of ICG with radiocolloid injection versus the traditional combination approach of blue dye and radiotracer.

4 Ultrastaging

Ultrastaging is the term used to describe intense histologic examination of the SLN samples. Ultrastaging is unrealistic in the daily practice setting and is thus rarely performed because it is an onerous task to examine the, on average, ten lymph nodes per groin removed by conventional IFLD. In contrast, ultrastaging is amenably performed on the 1-2 lymph nodes per groin obtained by SLNB. The combination of hematoxylin-eosin (H&E) and cytokeratin immunohistochemical (IHC) staining of paraffinembedded SLN tissue that is sectioned every 0.4 to 0.5 mm intervals (as contrasted with the 2 to 3 mm section intervals used for traditional lymph node evaluations) has led to the identification of micrometastases in SLN otherwise thought to be void of lymph node metastasis by conventional pathologic examination. IHC staining should thus be added to H&E staining for more accurate identification of micrometastases.

In GOG Protocol 173, 23% of all SLN were detected to be positive by immunohistochemistry when the routine H&E staining did not reveal metastatic disease (Levenback et al. 2012). In the GROINSS-V study, the authors reported that, of 135 positive SLN in 403 patients, 80 (59%) were detected with routine sectioning and H&E staining, 19 (14%) were detected by ultrastage sectioning using H&E staining, and a further 36 (27%) positive SLN were detected by ultrastaging with immunohistochemical staining. The risk of a non-SLN metastases was higher when the SLN was found positive by routine histological assessment than by ultrastaging (27.1% vs. 5.4%) (Oonk et al. 2010). In patients with SLN metastasis identified by ultrastaging, the 5-year overall survival rate was higher than in patients with SLN metastasis identified by routine pathological examination (89% vs. 65%).

Without examination of the lymph nodes removed by SLNB or full IFLD by the same pathological evaluations, it will be difficult to confirm the true value of the detection of micrometastases by ultrastaging of SLN. A better consensus on the standards for pathological evaluations and the need for ultrastaging is required.

5 Recurrence Rate

Recurrence of vulvar cancer in the groin is usually a fatal event, making it an important outcome measurement for this patient population. IFLD patients were historically divided into two groups: superficial and complete resection. Complete resection was used to describe an inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy combined with removal of the deep femoral lymph nodes, while superficial resection was used to describe procedures without an attempt to remove the deep femoral lymph nodes. Using complete resection, the lowest reported rate of groin recurrence following IFLD was about 1%. However, rates of surgical morbidity, especially wound breakdown and lymphedema, were excessively high (Stehman et al. 1992).

In the case of superficial resection, inguinal recurrence rates of 5-7% were seen and were considered less acceptable compared with historical controls (Robison et al. 2014). For SLNB, the groin recurrence rate was expected to be less than 3%. For well-selected patients with vulvar cancer, this result seems to be an acceptable compromise that minimizes surgical morbidity. Of course, for a tailored treatment in a clinical situation, the informed consent procedure for SLNB for vulvar cancer needs to include as a possible option a full IFLD. For patients with a 1 cm squamous cell carcinoma with less than 2 mm of stromal invasion, the risk of recurrence is approximately 1%, if the SLN is negative for metastasis. In contrast, for patients with a 4 cm or larger vulvar cancer, accompanied deep stromal invasion, the risk of recurrence is significantly higher, even if the SLN is negative for metastasis.

6 Survival Rate

Regardless of the type of lymphadenectomy, an inguinal recurrence of vulvar cancer worsens the survival rate (Martinez-Palones et al. 2006; Terada et al. 2006; Moore et al. 2008; Van der Zee et al. 2008; Oonk et al. 2010). Achimas-Cadariu et al. reported that the median overall survival period was 61.2 months but was only 16.2 months for patients who experienced a relapse (Achimas-Cadariu et al. 2009).

The GROINSS-V study is the largest investigation to date into the disease-specific survival rate among patients with no detected metastases by SLN (Van der Zee et al. 2008). At a median follow-up time of 35 months, the 3-year diseasespecific survival rate among patients with unifocal vulvar disease and a negative SLN was 97.0%. The 3-year disease-specific survival for patients with sentinel node metastases larger than 2 mm was lower than for those with metastases 2 mm or smaller tumors (69.5% vs. 94.4%) (Oonk et al. 2010).

7 Complications

Surgical complications for vulvar cancer include wound infection, wound breakdown, lymphocele, and long-term lymphedema. However, wound complications have decreased dramatically since the implementation of the "separate groin incision" technique (Wills and Obermair 2013). A recent systematic review regarding complication rates of IFLD reported that lymphedema occurs in 14-48% of patients after groin dissection, lymphocele formation in 7-40%, wound infection in 21-39%, and wound breakdown in 17-39% (Wills and Obermair 2013). Estimates for complications following an SLNB and IFLD were reported in the GROINSS-V study. For SLNB and IFLD, the wound breakdown rate was 11.7% vs. 34%, cellulitis was 4.5% vs. 21.3%, and lymphedema was 1.9% vs. 25.2%, respectively (Van der Zee et al. 2008). The results of the Levenback et al. (2012) validation study (GOG Protocol 173) demonstrated similar results to the GROINSS-V study (Van der Zee et al. 2008).

8 Quality of Life

IFLD, particularly when it is followed by radiation or chemoradiation, can aggravate the patient's quality of life (QOL). One study (62 patients) investigating QOL with the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30) found few differences between SLNB and IFLD; only the score regarding financial difficulties was significantly worse in the IFLD group. For the FACT-V questionnaire, there were significantly worse results for the scales concerning contentment functional, lymphedema, and complaints and stockings symptoms (Oonk et al. 2009).

Novackova et al. observed increased fatigue and more impaired lymphedema in patients with vulvar cancer after IFLD, compared with those after SLNB (Novackova et al. 2015). Forner et al. found that IFLD had a negative influence on the patients' sexual function (Forner et al. 2015). Additional studies are required to see how SLNB versus IFLD impact QOL in patients with vulvar cancer.

9 Cost-Effectiveness of SLNB

Erickson et al. compared the costs of SLNB with IFLD (Erickson et al. 2014). Their analysis concluded that SLNB is the most cost-effective strategy for the management of patients with earlystage vulvar cancer due to lower treatment costs and lower costs due to complications. Although there are additional costs associated with SLNB, including tracer injections, intraoperative mapping, imaging, and ultrastaging, these costs are offset by a shorter hospitalization. While both management strategies have similar disease-free survival estimates, the difference in treatment costs is approximately \$4000 more for the IFLD per patient than for SLNB.

McCann et al. also reported a similar costeffective analysis of SLNB and IFLD (McCann et al. 2015). Their analysis discovered that SLNB was less costly than IFLD (\$13,449 vs. \$14,261) and more effective for quality of life (4.16 qualityadjusted life years (QALYs) versus 4.00 QALYs). In this study, variations in the rate of positive SLNB and probability of lymphedema over clinically reasonable ranges did not alter the results. In their study, the increase in lymphedema associated with IFLD played a major role in the differences the costs between SLNB and IFLD.

SLNB is associated with shorter surgical time, fewer postoperative complications, and lower costs associated with postoperative complications. The incidence of lymphedema following IFLD are reported to be much higher, as high as 67% in one prospective study (Carlson et al. 2008). Among patients where only SLNB was performed, the morbidity rate was 1.9% (Van der Zee et al. 2008).

10 Learning Curve for Conducting SLNB

Vulvar cancer is a rare condition and the SLNB for it is a technically challenging procedure for surgeons. Acquiring experience in identifying the SLN accurately in patients with vulvar cancer is a very significant challenge. Schutter et al. describe the SLNB procedure as a complex interaction process between clinicians, specialists in nuclear medicine, and pathologists. So, if this interaction is ever inadequate, SLNB of vulvar cancer could have lethal consequences (Schutter and van der Sijde 2014). Given the strong potential for variations in operator skill in identifying SLN, an expert panel convened in 2008 recommended that a gynecologic oncologist performed at least ten consecutive cases with successful SLN identifications and no false-negative results before without performing stand-alone SLNB lymphadenectomy (Levenback et al. 2009).

While surgeons participating in the GOG Protocol 173 were not required to have a specific level of experience in conducting SLNB, surgeons participating in the GOG Protocol 270 were (GROINSS-V II study). Studies often define the first ten cases as part of the learning curve, after which SLNB without IFLD could be performed (Hampl et al. 2008; Van der Zee et al. 2008). Levenback et al. calculated that the rate of failure to identify an SLN was worse during the first 2 years of the study (16% in the first 2 years and then 7% for subsequent years) (Levenback et al. 2012).

Klapdor et al. reported that single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT/CT) leads to higher SLN identification compared to lymphoscintigraphy in vulvar cancer (Klapdor et al. 2015). Due to its higher spatial resolution and three-dimensional anatomical localization of SLN, the number of cases required to become a skilled surgeon in SLNB for vulvar cancer may be reduced by the use of preoperative SPECT/CT and by observing other surgical oncologists as they perform SLNB for breast cancer or melanoma (Chapman et al. 2016).

11 Conclusion

The development of SLNB in treatment for vulvar cancer has involved an unprecedented level of cooperation among investigators in Europe and the United States. SLNB is recommended for patients with early-stage vulvar cancer with primary tumors that are unifocal and smaller than 4 cm with clinically non-suspicious lymph nodes of metastasis in the groin, provided there is specific infrastructure with well-skilled surgeons. Some recommendations for appropriate techniques and procedures are also provided. Further recommendations on the management of patients with SLN metastasis are currently pending until the results are available from the GOG Protocol 270, which will incorporate the next phase of the GROINSS-V study (GROINSS-V II study). The purpose of this latter study is to investigate whether the dissection of SLN followed by chemotherapy and/or radiation is effective in managing early-stage vulvar cancer.

References

- Achimas-Cadariu P, Harter P, Fisseler-Eckhoff A, Beutel B, Traut A, Du Bois A. Assessment of the sentinel lymph node in patients with invasive squamous carcinoma of the vulva. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2009;88(11):1209–14.
- Carlson JW, Kauderer J, Walker JL, Gold MA, O'Malley D, Tuller E, Clarke-Pearson DL, Gynecologic Oncology G. A randomized phase III trial of VH fibrin sealant to reduce lymphedema after inguinal lymph node dissection: a Gynecologic Oncology Group study. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;110(1):76–82.
- Chapman BC, Gleisner A, Kwak JJ, Hosokawa P, Paniccia A, Merkow JS, Koo PJ, Gajdos C, Pearlman NW, McCarter MD, Kounalakis N. SPECT/CT improves detection of metastatic sentinel lymph nodes in patients with head and neck melanoma. Ann Surg Oncol. 2016;23(8):2652–7.
- DiSaia PJ, Creasman WT, Rich WM. An alternate approach to early cancer of the vulva. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1979;133(7):825–32.

- Erickson BK, Divine LM, Leath 3rd CA, Straughn Jr JM. Cost-effectiveness analysis of sentinel lymph node biopsy in the treatment of early-stage vulvar cancer. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(8):1480–5.
- Forner DM, Dakhil R, Lampe B. Quality of life and sexual function after surgery in early stage vulvar cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2015;41(1):40–5.
- Gaarenstroom KN, Kenter GG, Trimbos JB, Agous I, Amant F, Peters AAW, Vergote I. Postoperative complications after vulvectomy and inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy using separate groin incisions. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2003;13(4):522–7.
- Gould EA, Winship T, Philbin PH, Kerr HH. Observations on a sentinel node in cancer of the parotid. Cancer. 1960;13(1):77–8.
- Hampl M, Hantschmann P, Michels W, Hillemanns P, German Multicenter Study Group. Validation of the accuracy of the sentinel lymph node procedure in patients with vulvar cancer: results of a multicenter study in Germany. Gynecol Oncol. 2008;111(2):282–8.
- Handgraaf HJ, Verbeek FP, Tummers QR, Boogerd LS, van de Velde CJ, Vahrmeijer AL, Gaarenstroom KN. Real-time near-infrared fluorescence guided surgery in gynecologic oncology: a review of the current state of the art. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;135(3):606–13.
- Hassanzade M, Attaran M, Treglia G, Yousefi Z, Sadeghi R. Lymphatic mapping and sentinel node biopsy in squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;130(1):237–45.
- Kirby TO, Rocconi RP, Numnum TM, Kendrick JE, Wright J, Fowler W, Mutch DG, Bhoola SM, Huh WK, Straughn Jr JM. Outcomes of stage I/II vulvar cancer patients after negative superficial inguinal lymphadenectomy. Gynecol Oncol. 2005;98(2): 309–12.
- Klapdor R, Langer F, Gratz KF, Hillemanns P, Hertel H. SPECT/CT for SLN dissection in vulvar cancer: improved SLN detection and dissection by preoperative three-dimensional anatomical localisation. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;138(3):590–6.
- Levenback CF, van der Zee AG, Rob L, Plante M, Covens A, Schneider A, Coleman R, Solima E, Hertel H, Barranger E, Obermair A, Roy M. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in patients with gynecologic cancers Expert panel statement from the International Sentinel Node Society Meeting, February 21, 2008. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;114(2):151–6.
- Levenback CF, Ali S, Coleman RL, Gold MA, Fowler JM, Judson PL, Bell MC, De Geest K, Spirtos NM, Potkul RK, Leitao Jr MM, Bakkum-Gamez JN, Rossi EC, Lentz SS, Burke 2nd JJ, Van Le L, Trimble CL. Lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node biopsy in women with squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a gynecologic oncology group study. J Clin Oncol. 2012;30(31):3786–91.
- Maggino T, Landoni F, Sartori E, Zola P, Gadducci A, Alessi C, Solda M, Coscio S, Spinetti G, Maneo A, Ferrero A, De Konishi GT. Patterns of recurrence in

patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva. A multicenter CTF Study. Cancer. 2000;89(1):116–22.

- Martinez-Palones JM, Perez-Benavente MA, Gil-Moreno A, Diaz-Feijoo B, Roca I, Garcia-Jimenez-A, Aguilar-Martinez I, Xercavins J. Comparison of recurrence after vulvectomy and lymphadenectomy with and without sentinel node biopsy in early stage vulvar cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;103(3):865–70.
- McCann GA, Cohn DE, Jewell EL, Havrilesky LJ. Lymphatic mapping and sentinel lymph node dissection compared to complete lymphadenectomy in the management of early-stage vulvar cancer: a cost-utility analysis. Gynecol Oncol. 2015;136(2):300–4.
- Meads C, Sutton AJ, Rosenthal AN, Malysiak S, Kowalska M, Zapalska A, Rogozinska E, Baldwin P, Ganesan R, Borowiack E, Barton P, Roberts T, Khan K, Sundar S. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in vulval cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Cancer. 2014;110(12):2837–46.
- Moore RG, Robison K, Brown AK, DiSilvestro P, Steinhoff M, Noto R, Brard L, Granai CO. Isolated sentinel lymph node dissection with conservative management in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the vulva: a prospective trial. Gynecol Oncol. 2008; 109(1):65–70.
- Morton DL, Wen DR, Wong JH, Economou JS, Cagle LA, Storm FK, Foshag LJ, Cochran AJ. Technical details of intraoperative lymphatic mapping for early stage melanoma. Arch Surg. 1992;127(4):392–9.
- Novackova M, Halaska MJ, Robova H, Mala I, Pluta M, Chmel R, Rob L. A prospective study in the evaluation of quality of life after vulvar cancer surgery. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2015;25(1):166–73.
- Oonk MH, van Os MA, de Bock GH, de Hullu JA, Ansink AC, van der Zee AG. A comparison of quality of life between vulvar cancer patients after sentinel lymph node procedure only and inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy. Gynecol Oncol. 2009;113(3): 301–5.
- Oonk MH, van Hemel BM, Hollema H, de Hullu JA, Ansink AC, Vergote I, Verheijen RH, Maggioni A, Gaarenstroom KN, Baldwin PJ, van Dorst EB, van der Velden J, Hermans RH, van der Putten HW, Drouin P, Runnebaum IB, Sluiter WJ, van der Zee AG. Size of sentinel-node metastasis and chances of non-sentinel-node involvement and survival in early stage vulvar cancer: results from GROINSS-V, a multicentre observational study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(7):646–52.
- Robison K, Roque D, McCourt C, Stuckey A, DiSilvestro PA, Sung CJ, Steinhoff M, Granai CO, Moore RG. Long-term follow-up of vulvar cancer patients evaluated with sentinel lymph node biopsy alone. Gynecol Oncol. 2014;133(3):416–20.
- Rouzier R, Haddad B, Dubernard G, Dubois P, Paniel BJ. Inguinofemoral dissection for carcinoma of the vulva: effect of modifications of extent and technique on morbidity and survival. J Am Coll Surg. 2003; 196(3):442–50.

- Schutter EM, van der Sijde R. Evaluation of groin recurrence after sentinel node procedure in vulvar cancer is mandatory. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2014;24(7):1138.
- Sedlis A, Homesley H, Bundy BN, Marshall R, Yordan E, Hacker N, Lee JH, Whitney C. Positive groin lymph nodes in superficial squamous cell vulvar cancer. A Gynecologic Oncology Group Study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1987;156(5):1159–64.
- Stehman FB, Bundy BN, Dvoretsky PM, Creasman WT. Early stage I carcinoma of the vulva treated with ipsilateral superficial inguinal lymphadenectomy and modified radical hemivulvectomy: a prospective study of the Gynecologic Oncology Group. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;79(4):490–7.
- Terada KY, Shimizu DM, Jiang CS, Wong JH. Outcomes for patients with T1 squamous cell cancer of the vulva undergoing sentinel node biopsy. Gynecol Oncol. 2006;102(2):200–3.
- Van der Zee AG, Oonk MH, De Hullu JA, Ansink AC, Vergote I, Verheijen RH, Maggioni A, Gaarenstroom KN, Baldwin PJ, Van Dorst EB, Van der Velden J, Hermans RH, van der Putten H, Drouin P, Schneider A, Sluiter WJ. Sentinel node dissection is safe in the treatment of early-stage vulvar cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008;26(6):884–9.
- Wills A, Obermair A. A review of complications associated with the surgical treatment of vulvar cancer. Gynecol Oncol. 2013;131(2):467–79.